
 

 

When telephoning, please ask for: Laura Webb 
Direct dial  0115 914 8481 
Email  democraticservices@rushcliffe.gov.uk 
 
Our reference:  
Your reference: 
Date: Wednesday 19 January 2022 

 
 
To all Members of the Communities Scrutiny Group 
 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
A Meeting of the Communities Scrutiny Group will be held on Thursday, 27 
January 2022 at 7.00 pm in the Council Chamber, Rushcliffe Arena, Rugby 
Road, West Bridgford to consider the following items of business. 
 
This meeting will be accessible and open to the public via the live stream on  
YouTube and viewed via the link: https://www.youtube.com/user/RushcliffeBC 
Please be aware that until the meeting starts the live stream video will not be  
showing on the home page. For this reason, please keep refreshing the home  
page until you the see the video appear. 
 
 
Yours sincerely 
 

 
 
Sanjit Sull 
Monitoring Officer   
 

AGENDA 

 
1.   Apologies for Absence  

 
2.   Declarations of Interest  

 
3.   Minutes of the Meeting 7 October 2021 (Pages 1 - 8) 

 
4.   Feedback on Residents Survey 2021 (Pages 9 - 20) 

 
 The report of the Director – Finance and Corporate Services is 

attached.  
 

5.   Housing Delivery Plan (Pages 21 - 54) 
 

 The report of the Director – Neighbourhoods is attached.  
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/user/RushcliffeBC


 

 

6.   Work Programme (Pages 55 - 56) 
 

 The report of the Director – Finance and Corporate Services is 
attached.  
 

Membership  
 
Chairman: Councillor J Wheeler  
Vice-Chairman: Councillor B Bansal 
Councillors: G Dickman, L Healy, R Jones, R Mallender, F Purdue-Horan, 
R Walker and G Williams 

Meeting Room Guidance 

 
Fire Alarm Evacuation:  in the event of an alarm sounding please evacuate the 
building using the nearest fire exit, normally through the Council Chamber.  You 
should assemble at the far side of the plaza outside the main entrance to the 
building. 
 
Toilets: are located to the rear of the building near the lift and stairs to the first 
floor. 
 
Mobile Phones: For the benefit of others please ensure that your mobile phone is 
switched off whilst you are in the meeting.   
 
Microphones:  When you are invited to speak please press the button on your 
microphone, a red light will appear on the stem.  Please ensure that you switch 
this off after you have spoken.   
 

Recording at Meetings 

 
The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 allows filming and 
recording by anyone attending a meeting. This is not within the Council’s control.  
 
Rushcliffe Borough Council is committed to being open and transparent in its 
decision making.  As such, the Council will undertake audio recording of meetings 
which are open to the public, except where it is resolved that the public be 
excluded, as the information being discussed is confidential or otherwise exempt 
 
 



 

 

 

 
 

MINUTES 
OF THE MEETING OF THE 

COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY GROUP 
THURSDAY, 7 OCTOBER 2021 

Held at 7.00 pm in the Council Chamber, Rushcliffe Arena, Rugby Road, West 
Bridgford 

 
PRESENT: 

 Councillors J Wheeler (Chairman), B Bansal (Vice-Chairman), G Dickman, 
L Healy, R Jones, R Mallender, F Purdue-Horan, R Walker and G Williams 

 
 ALSO IN ATTENDANCE: 

M Clifford – Trent Bridge Community Trust  
Councillor R Inglis – Portfolio Holder for Environment and Safety  
R Lawton – Nottinghamshire Police  

 
 OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE: 
 D Banks Director of Neighbourhoods 
 D Burch Service Manager - Neighbourhoods 
 M Clifford Community Projects Manager 
 D Hayden Communities Manager 
 L Webb Democratic Services Officer 
 Wells Principal Community Development 

Officer 
 
 APOLOGIES: 

There were no apologies  
  
  

6 Declarations of Interest 
 

 There were no declarations of interest 
 

6 Declarations of Interest 
 

 There were no declarations of interest 
 

7 Minutes of the Meeting 22 July 2021 
 

 The minutes of the meeting on 22 July 2021 were approved as a true record of 
the meeting.  
 
 

8 Police Performance and Resources in Rushcliffe 
 

 The Director – Neighbourhoods presented their report which detailed a review 
of the South Nottinghamshire Community Safety Partnership (SNCSP). It was 
noted that the Partnership covered the administrative areas of Rushcliffe, 
Broxtowe and Gedling. The Director advised that the statutory and voluntary 
partners who participated in the SNCSP aimed to reduce crime and disorder, 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



 

 

 

anti-social behaviour and to promote healthy and safer communities. 
 
Inspector Rob Lawton – the Neighbourhood Policing Inspector for Rushcliffe 
delivered a presentation to the group which covered:  
 

 Crime Trends  

 Anti-Social Behaviour  

 Priorities  

 Resource Deployment  

 Commitment  

 Partners  
 
Following the presentation, councillors asked questions regarding the tackling 
of financial cybercrime. The Inspector encouraged Councillors to ask residents 
to contact the police if they had any concerns, especially if they did not have 
access to social media. The Director – Neighbourhoods informed the 
councillors that the Safer Nottinghamshire Board which aims to bring together 
key agencies involved in community safety had a strategy and action plan to 
help tackle crime against the vulnerable as cybercrime had increased by over 
340% in the last 12 months. It was noted that it was important for residents to 
be educated about national initiatives such as the ’take five’ and ‘tell two’ 
campaign and the officers agreed to recirculate advice to the group which they 
could then pass on to residents. The Group were also informed that a local 
action plan for community safety work in the borough the group was funded by 
the Police and Crime Commissioner which is split between Gedling, Broxtowe 
and Rushcliffe and much of proactive work of this plan was delivered in 
partnership with Rushcliffe’s community safety officer. 
 
The Group asked questions regarding the selection of priorities for the 
Borough. The Inspector stated that priorities were chosen dependent on which 
type of crimes had been reported in Rushcliffe and that priorities may not 
necessarily require extra resources. The Group were assured that daily 
business still occurs despite there being three priorities for Rushcliffe.  
 
It was questioned whether domestic abuse and violence against women and 
girls would be made a priority for the Borough. The Group were informed that 
these crimes were dealt with by response officers. The Director – 
Neighbourhoods stated that the police and crime commissioner funded JUNO 
Women’s Aid across the county and also Equation which is an organisation 
which provides support for men experiencing domestic abuse.  
 
In light of recent national events the Inspector advised the councillors to inform 
residents that they are able to ask to see evidence of the police officers’ 
warrant card if they have any concerns about being approached by them. It 
was also noted that some police officers may be in plainclothes or may be 
members of the police organisation and not necessarily a police officer. It was 
agreed that the Director – Neighbourhoods discuss with the education authority 
about how we could influence the national curriculum to include methods to 
address the behaviour of boys towards girls and women.     
 
The Inspector agreed to circulate to the group a presentation which listed 
Rushcliffe’s neighbourhood officers and their contact details. The Inspector 

Page 2



 

 

 

stressed the importance that these contact details must only be used for 
general enquires or ask for updates on particular cases and not be used to 
report crime.  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Environment and Safety asked the councillors to 
contact him if they had any concerns regarding crime in their wards. It was 
noted that if crime was reported, it was more likely to be added to the 
neighbourhood policing teams’ list of priorities. The Portfolio Holder agreed to 
report back to councillors the outcome of their meetings to discuss priorities. 
The Portfolio Holder informed the Group that he would like to reinstate the 
‘nominated neighbour’ programme in which a neighbour assists vulnerable 
residents who were concerned about cyber, fraud and doorstep type crime.  
 
It was RESOLVED that  
 

a) The report of the Director – Neighbourhoods be noted  
b) The Group be provided with the ‘take five’ and other advice about cyber 

crime which they can circulate to residents  
c) The Director – Neighbourhoods discuss with the local education 

authority about methods to educate boys about violence against women 
d) A presentation be circulated to Councillors which details the contact 

details of the neighbourhood policing team in Rushcliffe 
   
 

9 YouNG and Positive Futures Update 
 

 The Communities Manager presented the report of the Director – 
Neighbourhoods which detailed the support that the Council provides for 
children and young people. It was explained that activities were delivered 
through a combination of service level agreements and through directly 
delivery via internal council teams.   
 
The Group received a presentation which detailed the Borough’s activities for 
children and young people as well as the Council’s largest project supporting 
children and young people the Trent Bridge Community Trust (TBCT) who 
facilitate delivery of the Positive Futures and YouNG programmes in Rushcliffe.  
 
The presentation covered; 
 

 Current Borough Activities  

 Evolving ways of working  

 The Work of Trent Bridge Community Trust  

 Key Priorities  

 Covid-19 Changes  

 Partnerships  

 Opportunities  
 

Following the presentation, it was requested that further information be 
provided about the pilot of the family hub scheme. The Communities Manager 
agreed to contact the County Council and provide the Group with a summary 
which would detail a road map of their work in the future.  

 

Page 3



 

 

 

The Group endorsed the work of the TBCT and thanked the Community 
Projects Manager for his comprehensive presentation. In particular, the Group 
praised the activities which had taken place in Cotgrave in the summer, which 
were attended by over 400 young people.  
 
The Group asked questions about how a young person could be referred to 
take part in the positive futures programme. It was noted that referrals could be 
completed by teachers, the police, parents and even by the young person 
themselves. The majority of young people that the TBCT were working with on 
a one-to-one basis were suffering from mental health related illnesses and that 
the TBCT supported them in undertaking activities such as walking, going to 
the gym, and making jewellery. The TBCT also facilitated a transition 
programme for year 6 pupils in the lead up to starting secondary school. 
 
The Group also asked questions about the YouNG Project. The Community 
Projects Manager was pleased to inform the Group that YouNG markets were 
due to take place across the Borough at Christmas light switch on events in 
West Bridgford and Cotgrave. The Councillors suggested that the TBCT could 
benefit for funding from the Council’s Community Support Scheme and 
Nottinghamshire County Council’s divisional fund which could help fund 
additional markets in Rushcliffe. Councillors were encouraged to notify the 
TBCT of any community events in which a YouNG market could take place. 
The YouNG project also provided work experience placements for young 
people, including those no longer in education seeking employment.    
It was RESOLVED that  
 

a) The report of the Director – Neighbourhoods be noted  
b) The work of the Positive Futures and YouNG project be endorsed  
c) The Group be provided with further information about the family hub pilot 

scheme  
 

10 Work Programme 
 

 The Chairman presented the report of the Director – Finance and Corporate 
Services, which detailed the proposed Communities Scrutiny Group Work 
Programme for 2021/22.  
 
Items suggested for the work programme included rural broadband. It was 
noted that this would probably be an item for the growth and development 
group to scrutinise and that a scrutiny matrix would need to be submitted in 
order for it to be approved by the Corporate Overview Group.  
 
Concerns were raised that agenda items were being moved around in between 
the meetings of the communities scrutiny group and the corporate overview 
group. It was suggested that councillors discuss their concerns with the Service 
Manager – Finance and Corporate Services.  
 
It was RESOLVED that the work programme below be approved.  
 
 
27 January 2022  

 Housing Delivery Plan  

Page 4



 

 

 

 Work Programme  
 
28 April 2022  

 Carbon Management Plan  

 Waste Strategy  

 Work Programme 
 
 

Item Action Responsible Officer  

Police performance and 
resources in Rushcliffe  

The Group be provided 
with the ‘take five’ and 
other advice about 
cybercrime which they 
can circulate to residents 
 
Discussion to take place 
with the local education 
authority about methods 
to educate boys about 
violence against women 
 
A presentation be 
circulated to Councillors 
which details the contact 
details of the 
neighbourhood policing 
team in Rushcliffe 
 

Service Manager – 
Neighbourhoods  
 
 
 
 
 
Director – 
Neighbourhoods  
 
 
 
 
Service Manager – 
Neighbourhoods  
 
 
 
 

YouNG and Positive 
Futures Update  

The Group be provided 
with further information 
about the family hub pilot 
scheme 

Director – 
Neighbourhoods  

 
 

 
 
 
The meeting closed at 9.12 pm. 

 
 

CHAIRMAN 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 

OFFICIAL 

 
Actions and Responses – Communities Scrutiny Group 7 October 2021  

Item Action Responsible Officer  Response  

Police performance and 
resources in Rushcliffe  

The Group be provided with the 
‘take five’ and other advice 
about cybercrime which they 
can circulate to residents 
 
Discussion to take place with 
the local education authority 
about methods to educate boys 
about violence against women 
 
A presentation be circulated to 
Councillors which details the 
contact details of the 
neighbourhood policing team in 
Rushcliffe 
 

Service Manager – 
Neighbourhoods  
 
 
 
 
 
Director – Neighbourhoods  
 
 
 
 
Service Manager – 
Neighbourhoods  
 
 
 
 

Completed  
 
 
 
 
 
In progress. Verbal update to be 
provided by the Chairman  
 
 
 
Completed  

YouNG and Positive Futures 
Update  

The Group be provided with 
further information about the 
family hub pilot scheme 

Director – Neighbourhoods  Completed.  

P
age 7



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

  

 

 

 

 
Communities Scrutiny Group 
 
Thursday, 27 January 2021  

 
Residents Survey Feedback  

 
Report of the Director – Finance and Corporate Services  
 
1. Purpose of report 

 
1.1  To present the results of the Residents’ Survey that took place in Summer 

2021 and facilitate a Group discussion about the feedback provided by 
residents through the survey. The Residents’ Survey is conducted every three 
years and seeks feedback from residents on key Council services and 
suggestions for making the Borough an even better place to live and work. 

 
1.2 To identify where the Council can take action leading to improvements in 

resident satisfaction in the future.  
 

2. Recommendation 
 

It is RECOMMENDED that Communities Scrutiny Group:  
 
a) Discuss the results and identify if any further actions should be taken as a 

result of the survey findings  
 

b) Agree for the Council’s communications team to set up a focus group with 
residents to explore views presented in the survey relating to ways in 
which residents can contact and engage with the Council with a view to 
making improvements in the area and to formalise the production of an 
action plan 

 
3. Reasons for Recommendation 
 
3.1. It is important that the Council takes a proactive approach to listening to 

residents’ views on its services and quality of life where they live so they feel 
wider support from the authority and its partners can address the key topics 
they raise. 

 
3.2. Identifying possible improvements where the Council can take action directly 

or tailor existing actions to be more impactful in line with the survey feedback 
enables the Council to further shape services in line with resident needs. 

 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



 

  

 

4. Supporting Information 
 

Background Information  
 

4.1. The Council conducted a residents’ survey in June, July and August 2021 
which has provided insight into what residents think about the Council and 
how satisfied they are with the services provided.  

 
4.2. The structure, format and questions are all based on previous surveys   

conducted by the Council and allow it to track satisfaction over a number of 
years.  
 

4.3. The survey was contained within the summer edition of the residents’ 
magazine Rushcliffe Reports, delivered to every home in the Borough and 
heavily publicised across the Council’s website and other digital channels. 
 

4.4. 1,147 residents completed the survey, double that of the survey in 2018, the 
last large scale residents’ survey, when 547 submitted their views. Of these 
972 did so online and 175 completed a paper- based version of the survey 
from the magazine. 
 

4.5. A table of results is at Appendix A including comparisons to data collected in 
2018, the last large scale residents’ survey undertaken. 
 
Cautionary Notes  
 

4.6.  There is a small downward trend in the levels of satisfaction indicated by 
residents in a number of areas. This was anticipated given the impact of the 
COVID-19 over the last 18-months on Rushcliffe communities. This downturn 
in public confidence as a result of the pandemic could overshadow some 
responses and have an impact on how people feel about the Council and 
other public service providers. 

 
4.7. This is not a local finding. The Local Government Association has reported 

that councils who surveyed this year are seeing a drop of 4-6% on previous 
results – due to the COVID impact. 
 

4.8. The Group is also asked to bear in mind that in local government surveys 
residents tend to group all public service providers together and it is often not 
clear whether views are directed specifically to Borough Council or other parts 
of the public sector. 
 

4.9. Results may also have been influenced by the change in residents’ working 
patterns over the last two years which has been unprecedented with the 
impact of working from home, meaning that involvement in local communities 
may have changed. This could be two-fold, positively such as in the case of 
community cohesion, and negatively such as perceptions of more littering in 
local areas of disposable masks and gloves. 
 

Page 10



 

  

 

4.10. Lockdowns and more remote working are likely to have had an effect on the 
perceptions or realities of accessibility of public sector services. 
 
General Questions – high levels of satisfaction  
  

4.11. Of the 23 main questions surveyed, five are above 80% and eleven are below 
60% in line with the Council’s long-standing thresholds for resident 
satisfaction.  
 

4.12. The survey contained 18 general questions which all residents should have 
been able to express a view on. The Council has parameters for what it 
considers to be good levels of satisfaction and areas of satisfaction that are 
lower than desired– these are over 80% or under 60%. 

 
4.13. Of these 18 general questions, three present high levels of satisfaction from 

residents: 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.14. This compares to four questions falling into this high performing category in 

2018 and the last time the survey was conducted. The three above were 
joined by the percentage of people who feel they belong to their local area 
which is now at 79% so just dropping below the 80% threshold. 
 
General Questions – levels of satisfaction lower than 60% threshold  
  

4.15. In terms of areas in which satisfaction is being reported as lower than three 
60% threshold, nine questions have solicited a response of less than 60%: 
 

 2021 2018 Difference 

Percentage of people satisfied 
with the way the Council runs 
things 

59%  63% -4% 

Percentage of people who 
agree that the Council provides 
good value for money  

41% 47% -6% 

Percentage of people who will 
speak positively about the 
Council  

44% 48% -4% 

Percentage of people who 44% 45% -1% 

 2021 2018 Difference 

Percentage of people who 
have overall satisfaction with 
their local area as a place to 
live 

84% 83% +1% 

Percentage of people who feel 
safe when outside in their local 
area during the day 

91% 92% -1% 

Percentage of people who are 
satisfied with the refuse and 
recycling service 

81% satisfaction in both surveys 

Page 11



 

  

 

think the Council acts on the 
concerns of local residents  

Percentage of people who trust 
the Council  

55% 54% +1% 

Percentage of people who 
agree that people from 
different backgrounds get on 
well together in their local area  

57% 52% +5% 

Percentage of people who 
agree that they can influence 
decisions that affect their local 
area   

26% 31% -5% 

Percentage of people who are 
satisfied with Rushcliffe 
Reports  

50% 61% -11% 

Percentage of people satisfied 
with the variety of ways they 
can contact the Council 

59%  72% -13% 

 
 
4.12.  Of the two questions with the higher percentage decreases, subsequent 

proposed actions will be discussed later in the report.   
  
 Satisfactions increases and declines  
 
4.13. Satisfaction in seven areas has improved – in two areas, this is by more than 

5%: percentage of people who agree that local people pull together to 
improve their local area (+6%) and percentage of people who agree that 
people from different backgrounds get on well together in their local area 
(+5%). 

 
4.14.  One area has remained the same – percentage of people who are satisfied 

with the refuse and recycling service. 
 
4.15. Satisfaction in eleven areas has declined – in five areas, this decline has been 

more than 5% as shown in the table below:  
 

 2021 2018 Difference 

Percentage of people who 
agree that the Council provides 
good value for money 

41% 47% -6% 

Percentage of people who 
think the Council keeps them 
well informed 

64% 69% -5% 

Percentage of people who 
agree that they can influence 
decisions that affect their local 
area 

26% 31% -5% 

Percentage of people who are 
satisfied with Rushcliffe 

50% 61% -11% 

Page 12



 

  

 

Reports 

Percentage of people satisfied 
with the variety of ways they 
can contact the Council 

59% 72% -13% 

 
4.16. Given the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic some drop in satisfaction levels 

as outlined above was expected and, therefore, these decreases will be areas 
focussed on later in this report. 
 

4.17. The Council appreciates it can be difficult for residents to distinguish between 
the work of the Borough Council and the County Council or, in some cases, 
other public service providers.  

 
4.18. Open comments at the end of the survey cover feedback to a range of 

different providers and, therefore it is consistent that the numerical questions 
also express some dissatisfaction with other partners’ services.   
 

4.19. This is then considered in line with the topics residents have raised in the next 
section. 
 
More service specific questions  
 

4.20. The survey also contains questions specifically related to the Events and 
Planning Services. In both cases respondents are asked if they have used the 
service and, if they have, how satisfied they were. 

 
Events  
 

 2021 2018 Difference 

Percentage of people who are 
aware of the Council’s events 
programme 

83% 87% -4% 

Percentage of people who are 
satisfied with a Council event 
they have attended 

84% 86% -2% 

 
4.21. Awareness and satisfaction levels of over 80% have been maintained. Very 

slight decreases could be linked to all events during 2020 were cancelled due 
to COVID19 and most 2021 events took place after the survey deadline. It is 
very clear that the events programme is still valued by residents. 
 
Planning  
 

 2021 2018 Difference 

Percentage of people who 
have used the Council’s 
planning service 

58% 56% + 2% 

Percentage of people who are 
satisfied with the Council’s 
planning service 

44% 43% + 1% 

Page 13



 

  

 

 
4.22. There is a slight increase in the percentage of survey respondents reporting 

that they have used the planning service but does not reflect the significant 
increase of 42% in actual numbers of planning applications received.  
 

4.23. Of those that have used the service, only 44% of people reported being 
satisfied. However, it is noted that respondents may have been applicants or 
objectors who may not have received the planning outcomes they were 
seeking, and this can have a huge impact on the way responses are given. 
 
Resident feedback on specific issues  
 

4.24. The final set of questions are phrased differently to the rest of the survey and 
ask whether respondents feel a number of factors are a problem in their local 
area rather than asking how satisfied respondents are. They are mainly 
connected to feelings of safety and anti-social behaviour. In the main, there 
are very low percentages of people reporting that these factors are an issue in 
their area. Highlighted below are the three areas where there has been an 
increase of over 5% since the last survey in 2018: 

 

Percentage of people who feel 
that the following factors are a 
problem in their local area: 

2021 2018 Difference 

Rubbish or litter lying around 42% 34% +8% 

People using or dealing drugs 25% 18% +7% 

Dog fouling 49% 42% +7% 

 

4.25. 25% of respondents to this question felt that people using or dealing drugs in 
their area was a problem. To set this perception in context, the Police reported 
five drug related crimes in August 2021, the same month that this survey was 
conducted. 

4.26. 42% of respondents felt that rubbish and litter lying around and 49% of 
respondents felt that dog fouling were problems in their areas. In the same 
survey, satisfaction with street cleanliness and the cleanliness of parks and 
opens spaces have both improved. Quarter 1 performance data from 
Streetwise Environmental shows that 97.5% of streets inspected in Rushcliffe 
have passed the clean streets inspection.  

4.27. Whilst residents may be concerned that these issues are a problem in their 
area, performance data collected by the Council and partners would suggest 
otherwise. This is not to say that residents are incorrect, but that reality and 
perception do not always agree. The Council is always mindful that 
environmental concerns are a key priority for residents and continually seeks 
to promote the work the Council and its partners do to target action to address 
these issues. 

Page 14



 

  

 

Open feedback provided by residents  

4.28. The final section of the survey asked respondents if there was anything else 
they wished to inform the Council about. Kindly, over 80 people left 
compliments about the Council and its services including many comments on 
the Council’s response to COVID-19, the distribution of business relief and the 
excellent waste services. 
 

4.29. The largest proportion of less positive comments related to services run by the 
County Council – out of 264 comments overall, the largest number related to 
potholes, road and pavement maintenance. In addition, 68 comments made 
by respondents to the survey related to services provided by the Police 
including anti-social behaviour associated with teenagers in villages and the 
perception that a greater police presence was needed.  
 

4.30. These comments will be passed on to our partners to raise their awareness of 
the concerns expressed by residents. The fact that so many residents left 
feedback that relates to other organisations suggests that there is still a lack 
of understanding of which organisation does what and so feedback relating to 
levels of satisfaction may also be influenced positively or negatively by 
residents’ perceptions of services that we do not provide.  
 

4.31. 193 comments left by respondents to the survey related to waste and 
recycling. The comments mainly related to the collection of glass, a wider 
range of plastics, and kitchen scraps for recycling via a doorstep collection 
service. Whilst Rushcliffe provides the Borough’s waste collection and 
recycling service not many residents understand that what we can collect and 
recycle is determined by the County Council and the longstanding Veolia 
contract. It is anticipated that the upcoming Environment Bill will resolve 
many, if not all, of these points. 
 

4.32. There were 249 individual comments relating to the planning service. In the 
main, residents expressed concerns about the number of houses being built 
around the Borough and the perception that there is too little corresponding 
development of infrastructure. Some concerns were also expressed about 
development on Green Belt and in-fill sites.   
 

4.33. 167 comments related to the Council as a whole. These included requests to 
stop increasing Council Tax. 164 comments related to the environment 
including litter on pavements and in open spaces, and a lack of bins, dog 
fouling, street sweeping, weeds and fly-tipping. A small number of comments 
were received about the Council’s Leisure and Cultural Services, 
Communications and Customer Services. 

 
Proposed Actions  

4.34. The percentage of people satisfied with Rushcliffe Reports decreased to 50% 
from 61% in 2018 and those satisfied with the variety of ways they can contact 
the Council decreased from 72% to 59%.  

Page 15



 

  

 

4.35. A focus group is therefore proposed so the Council can target its response to 
the survey feedback in areas where it believes it can make a measurable 
difference as well as continuing to deliver positive communications to 
influence views in other areas. 

4.36. This includes further positive promotion on what and how services are 
operated to increase their knowledge. 

4.37. Further investigation into the satisfaction with Rushcliffe Reports will take 
place, listening to further views on where the Council can change content for 
Rushcliffe Reports and ways residents can contact the Council. 

4.38. Officers are investigating areas of dissatisfaction to determine what, if 
anything, can be done at the present time to improve resident satisfaction in 
these areas.  

4.39. The formation of the focus group will seek to formalise an action plan from its 
discussions but also other ways the Council can keep residents informed in 
line with its 2022-2025 Communications Strategy, set to be finalised this 
Spring. 

4.40. As part of the Council’s actions it could highlight examples to the group and 
subsequently communicate more widely the actions that it has taken in some 
areas of concern for example, in relation to fly-tipping that has seen the 
Council record a four-year low in quarter two in 2021. 

4.41. Work is also taking place to review access to the Council’s services post-
pandemic including face to face, over the phone, by email and through the 
Council’s website. 

4.42. This will result in a new Customer Services Strategy which will be published 
mid-2022 and improve residents’ understanding of the variety of different 
ways in which they can contact the Council. 

4.43. Residents were asked how they would like to receive news and 67% stated 
this update was their preferred option possibly highlighting that a less digitally 
based engaged audience completed the survey even though the vast majority 
of respondents did so online (972 out of 1,147). 

4.44. Any concerns connected to the environmental impact of printing and 
distributing a paper update will also be raised through this channel. The focus 
group will also consider if social media, the proactive seeking out of 
information, and alternative media cover connections with residents 
sufficiently.  

5. Risks and Uncertainties  
 

If no action is taken as a result of the feedback identified in the survey this 
may result in disengagement in local democracy and/or reputational issues 
with residents. Failure to listen to residents may also have an adverse effect 
on the quality of life in the Borough in direct contradiction of the Council’s key 

priorities. 
 
 

Page 16



 

  

 

6. Implications  
 

6.1. Financial Implications 
 

Possible third-party co-ordination of the focus group, employing an 
engagement provider to assess and deliver the format, met from existing 
budgets. 

 
6.2.   Legal Implications 

 
There are no direct legal implications associated with this report.  
 

6.3. Equalities Implications  
 

There are no equalities implications associated with this report.  
  

6.4. Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 Implications  
 

There are no crime and disorder implications associated with this report.  
 

7. Link to Corporate Priorities   
  

Quality of Life It is important to ask residents of the Borough how they feel 

about living and working in the Borough so that this information 

can be used to inform decision making. 

Efficient Services 

Sustainable 

Growth 

The Environment 

 
8.  Recommendations 

   
It is RECOMMENDED that Communities Scrutiny Group:  
 
a) Discuss the results and identify if any further actions should be taken as a 

result of the survey findings  
b) Agree for the Council’s communications team to set up a focus group with 

residents to explore views presented in the survey relating to ways in 
which residents can contact and engage with the Council with a view to 
making improvements in the area and to formalise the production of an 
action plan 

 

For more information contact: 
 

Charlotte Caven-Atack  
Service Manager – Corporate Services  
ccaven-atack@rushcliffe.gov.uk  
0115 9148 278  
 

Background papers available for 
Inspection: 

None.  
 

List of appendices: Appendix 1  
 

Page 17

mailto:ccaven-atack@rushcliffe.gov.uk


 

  

 

 

Page 18



 

 

 

Appendix 1 
 

Question 2021 result 2018 result  

Percentage of people who have overall satisfaction with their local 
area as a place to live 

84% 83% 

Percentage of people satisfied with the way the Council runs 
things   

59% 63% 

Percentage of people who agree that the Council provides good 
value for money 

41% 47% 

Percentage of people who will speak positively about the Council. 
44% 48% 

Percentage of people who think the Council acts on the concerns 
of local residents 

44% 45% 

Percentage of people who feel they belong to their local area 
79% 82% 

Percentage of people who feel safe when outside in their local 
area after dark 

73% 76% 

Percentage of people who feel safe when outside in their local 
area during the day 

91% 92% 

Percentage of people who think the Council keeps them well 
informed. 

64% 69% 

Percentage of people who trust the Council 
55% 54% 

Percentage of people who agree that people from different 
backgrounds get on well together in their local area  

57% 52% 

Percentage of people who agree that local people pull together to 
improve their local area 

67% 61% 

Percentage of people who agree that they can influence decisions 
that affect their local area  

26% 31% 

Percentage of people who are satisfied with Rushcliffe Reports 
50% 61% 

Percentage of people satisfied with the variety of ways they can 
contact the Council  

59% 72% 

Percentage of people who are satisfied with street cleanliness  
67% 63% 

Percentage of people who are satisfied with parks and open 
space cleanliness 

71% 70% 

Percentage of people who are satisfied with the refuse and 
recycling service  

81% 81% 

  

Page 19



 

 

 

Question 2021 result 2018 result  

Percentage of people who feel that the following factors are a 
problem in their local area: 

  

Noisy neighbours or loud parties 
10% 8% 

Teenagers hanging around the streets 
22% 17% 

Rubbish or litter lying around 
42% 34% 

Vandalism, graffiti and other deliberate damage to property or vehicles 
18% 17% 

People using or dealing drugs 
25% 18% 

People being drunk or rowdy in public places 
11% 6% 

Abandoned or burnt out cars 
2% 1% 

Dog fouling  
49% 42% 

 

Question 2021 result 2018 result  

Percentage of people who are aware of the Council’s events 
programme 

83% 87% 

Percentage of people who are satisfied with a Council event they 
have attended 

84% 86% 

 

Question 2021 result 2018 result  

Percentage of people who have used the Council’s planning 
service 

58% 56% 

Percentage of people who are satisfied with the Council’s 
planning service 

44% 43% 

 

 

Page 20



 

  

 

 

 

 

 
Communities Scrutiny Group 
 
Thursday, 27 January 2022 

 
Housing Delivery Plan 2022 - 2027  
 
 

 
Report of the Director – Neighbourhoods  
 
 
1. Purpose of report 

 
1.1. This report sets out the Council’s Housing Delivery Plan 2022 to 2027. This 

replaces and builds upon the previous Plan which covered 2016 to 2021.  
 

1.2. The Plan sets out three high level priorities with associated actions to deliver 
these priorities. The actions are assigned delivery targets which will be 
monitored across the term of the Plan. The priorities, actions and targets were 
the subject of a consultation exercise. 
 

1.3. The high-level priorities are as follows: 
 

 Priority 1- Affordability and Sustainable Housing 

 Priority 2- Housing Quality and the Environmental Sustainability 

 Priority 3- Homelessness and Support 
 

2. Recommendation 
 

It is RECOMMENDED that the Communities Scrutiny Group consider the 
report and associated Plan 

 
3. Reasons for Recommendation 

 
3.1 The Plan supports the Council’s statutory duties and the Council’s corporate 

priorities. It also supports and links with corporate and partnership plans such 
as the South Nottinghamshire Homelessness Strategy, the Carbon 
Management Plan and the Empty Homes Strategy.  
 

3.2 The Plan provides a direction, focus and the performance framework for the 
delivery of housing and related services.    

 
4. Supporting Information 
 
4.1 Since 2003 most local housing authorities have been required to publish a ‘fit 

for purpose housing strategy. The Deregulation Act, which came into force in 
March 2015, repealed the duty stated in the Local Government Act 2003 for 
Local Authorities in England to prepare a Housing Strategy.   

Page 21

Agenda Item 5



 

  

 

4.2 Although there is no longer a statutory requirement to produce a Housing 
Strategy, housing plays a central role to the Borough’s continued success, 
growth and prosperity. Councils also have greater freedoms and opportunities 
to find local solutions to increase housing supply, meet local needs, improve 
health outcomes and drive economic growth. As such, it is considered 
important to publish an overarching document which sets out the priorities for 
housing and the actions being taken to secure improvements. 

4.3 The Housing Strategy was replaced with a more concise Housing Delivery 
Plan covering the period 2016 to 2021. This was approved by Cabinet on 8 
December 2015. The proposed Housing Delivery Plan 2022 to 2026 will 
replace the current plan which expired at the end of last year. The proposed 
plan seeks to link the housing service more closely with corporate priorities, 
for example the Carbon Management Plan and the South Nottinghamshire 
Homelessness Strategy. It also seeks to focus clearly measurable targets as 
opposed to aspirational assertions. 

4.4 The Council’s proposed priorities are set out below and the actions to meet 
them are set out in the draft Housing Delivery Plan at Appendix A:  

 Priority 1 - Affordability and Sustainable Housing supports work to 
increase the supply of housing, which includes the overall provision and 
the supply of affordable housing. This predominantly relates to the supply 
and development of new housing, but also includes making the best use of 
existing stock, for example bringing empty homes back into use.  

 Priority 2 - Housing Quality and the Environmental Sustainability focusses 
on the condition and environmental sustainability of the borough’s existing 
and future housing stock. This includes action to improve housing 
conditions, particularly for those living in more insecure housing tenures. 
Improving the environmental sustainability of the borough’s housing stock 
is a key plank in the Council’s Carbon Management Plan.   

 Priority 3 – Homelessness and Support. The third priority supports work to 
address all forms of homelessness from rough sleepers to households 
threatened with eviction. The priority also outlines our work to meet the 
needs of specific groups, including those with disabilities, elderly persons 
and other groups that may require specialist accommodation or support or 
adaptation to their home.  

4.5 The priorities, actions and associated targets were consulted upon for an 
eight-week period during October and November 2021. A consultation excerpt 
was sent to all Borough Councillors, Parish Councils and key stakeholders. 
We received three comprehensive responses and have amended some of the 
actions within the Plan having regard to the consultation responses. 

 
5 Risks and Uncertainties  
 

The Housing Delivery Plan is a strategic Council document. The risk is that 
the targets set within the Plan are not met. However, targets will be reviewed 

Page 22



 

  

 

on a six-monthly basis and mitigation measures will be established if targets 
are slipping. 
 

6 Implications  
 

6.1 Financial Implications 
 
The priorities and tasks contained within the Housing Delivery Plan will be 
contained within existing budgets.  Further opportunities to secure additional 
funding are available as part of the annual Spending Review. However, the 
unprecedented and changing financial landscape that the Council is currently 
managing due to the ongoing implications of Covid-19 will mean that this 
budget will come under increasing pressure. 

 
6.2  Legal Implications 

 
There is no statutory requirement to produce a Housing Strategy, however, 
the Council has a number of statutory duties within the three key priorities 
identified in the Housing Delivery Plan. 

 
6.3  Equalities Implications 
 

The Housing Delivery Plan takes account of the effect of the Council’s 
priorities on all residents of the Borough and is supported by the Council’s 
Equality and Diversity Scheme.  An equality impact assessment has been 
carried out and no adverse impacts have been identified.  

 
6.4  Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 Implications 
 

There are no Section 17 implications to the recommendations contained 
within this report. 
 

7 Link to Corporate Priorities  
 

Quality of Life Actions within the Plan address the quality of housing stock 

which has an integral effect on the quality of life of 

householders.    

Efficient Services The Plan supports partnership working and the most effective 

use of resources in meeting the housing needs of residents. 

Sustainable 

Growth 

The Plan supports the sustainable development of affordable 

housing to meet the housing needs of existing low-income 

households and new forming households. 

The Environment The Plan sets out housing related actions to contribute toward 

the Council’s Carbon Management Plan. 

 
 
 
 

Page 23



 

  

 

8  Recommendations 
  

It is RECOMMENDED that the Communities Scrutiny Group consider the 
report and associated Plan  

 

For more information contact: 
 

Donna Dwyer 
Strategic Housing Manager 
0115 914 4275 
ddwyer@rushcliffe.gov.uk 
 

Background papers available for 
Inspection: 

None 

List of appendices: Appendix 1 - Housing Delivery Plan 2022 to 2027 
Appendix 2 – Action Plan 

 
  
 
 

Page 24

mailto:ddwyer@rushcliffe.gov.uk


 

1 
 

OFFICIAL 

Rushcliffe Borough Council 

 

Housing Delivery Plan 2022- 2027 
 

<<<Front Cover design>>  

Page 25



 

2 
 

OFFICIAL 

Forward 
Welcome to our new Housing Delivery Plan 2022 to 2027. This Plan builds upon and replaces the 

previous Plan covering the years 2016 to 2021. This revised Plan celebrates the vibrancy and 

attractiveness of our borough yet recognises the challenges facing some of our residents and 

workforce. These challenges include the affordability of housing for younger households wishing to 

remain in the borough, the environmental sustainability of our housing stock, particularly in light of 

the increased cost of fuel, and our ageing population. More recently our housing service has 

responded proactively to the impact of the Coronavirus on our most vulnerable communities.  

We have consulted with key stakeholders including Borough Councillors, Parish Councillors, 

neighbouring local authorities and Nottinghamshire County Council, Registered Provider partners, 

and key private and voluntary sector organisations. We consulted upon our proposed priorities, 

actions and associated targets prior to the drafting of the Plan. This is in order that partners had an 

opportunity to input at an earlier stage of the Plan’s development and some of the original proposals 

have been amended in the light of consultee comments.  

The three priorities within the Plan are: 

Priority 1: Affordability and Sustainable Housing 

Priority 2: Housing Quality and Environmental Sustainability  

Priority 3: Homelessness and Support 

 

The Council believe that these three priorities set a comprehensive and inclusive framework for 

effective delivery of housing services in the years ahead.     

  

Page 26



 

3 
 

OFFICIAL 

 

Contents 
Rushcliffe Borough Council ..................................................................................................................... 1 

Housing Delivery Plan 2022- 2027 .......................................................................................................... 1 

Forward ................................................................................................................................................... 2 

1. Introduction ................................................................................................................................ 5 

1.1 Background and context ......................................................................................................... 5 

1.2  Our priorities ........................................................................................................................... 5 

1.3 Actions and targets ................................................................................................................. 6 

2. Borough profile ........................................................................................................................... 6 

2.1 Population and households .................................................................................................... 6 

2.2 Housing stock .......................................................................................................................... 7 

2.3 Economic activity and earnings ............................................................................................ 10 

3. Priority One: Affordability and Sustainable Housing ................................................................ 13 

3.1  Housing growth .................................................................................................................... 13 

3.2 House price and affordability ................................................................................................ 14 

3.3  Private rental prices and affordability .................................................................................. 15 

3.4  Achievements since the last housing plan (2016 to 2021) ................................................... 16 

3.5 Actions and targets ............................................................................................................... 17 

4. Priority 2: Housing Quality and Environmental Sustainability .................................................. 18 

4.1  Housing quality ..................................................................................................................... 18 

4.2  Health and Housing ............................................................................................................... 19 

4.3  Environmental sustainability ................................................................................................ 20 

4.4  Empty Homes ........................................................................................................................ 20 

4.5 Achievements since the last Plan .......................................................................................... 21 

4.6 Actions and targets ............................................................................................................... 22 

5. Priority 3: Homelessness and Support ...................................................................................... 23 

5.1 Homelessness and rough sleeping ........................................................................................ 23 

5.2  Housing support .................................................................................................................... 24 

5.3  Supported housing ................................................................................................................ 25 

5.4  Achievements since the last Plan .......................................................................................... 25 

5.4  Action and Targets ............................................................................................................... 26 

6. Monitoring and Resources ........................................................................................................ 28 

Monitoring ........................................................................................................................................ 28 

Page 27



 

4 
 

OFFICIAL 

Resources .......................................................................................................................................... 28 

Contacts ............................................................................................................................................ 28 

 

 
  

Page 28



 

5 
 

OFFICIAL 

1. Introduction 

1.1 Background and context 
Good quality, affordable housing is important for a range of reasons. We all need a place to live and 

where we live should be safe, secure and affordable to us. That is a cornerstone of a functioning, 

developed and just society.  

However, the housing market suffers significant market failure in large parts of the United Kingdom, 

including Rushcliffe. The key issues being:    

 The overall supply of housing does not meet the overall demand for housing. 

 The cost of buying housing is expensive relative to incomes, which disproportionally effects 

younger purchasers without existing equity.  

 The quality of a significant proportion of the housing stock is poor in terms of its energy use, 

condition and suitability for current use. 

 There is a lack of supported and adapted housing to meet the needs of special needs groups.      

 
A main objective of national and local housing policy and strategy is to seek to rebalance the housing 

market and to intervene to address market failure. A further objective of national and local housing 

policy and strategy is to support and facilitate economic growth and the regeneration of place.     

Construction is a strong economic driver and house building is key to meeting future housing needs 

and reducing the reliance upon unsuitable housing. The sustainability of new-build development is 

also important in terms of mitigating the carbon footprint of construction.  

In order to seek to address the problems within the existing housing market and create strong, 

sustainable housing growth in the Borough, we have set out the following priorities for delivery 

within our Housing Delivery Plan.   

1.2  Our priorities 
 

Priority 1: Affordability and Sustainable Housing 

The first priority seeks to ensure that the supply of new housing allocated to the borough is 

developed in a sustainable manner. This includes both the overall provision of housing and the 

supply of affordable housing.    

Priority 2: Housing Quality and the Environmental Sustainability  

The second priority focusses on the condition and environmental sustainability of the borough’s 

existing and future housing stock. This includes action to improve housing conditions, particularly for 

those living in more insecure housing tenures. Improving the environmental sustainability of the 

borough’s housing stock is a key plank in the Council’s Carbon Management Plan. This priority also 

covers the Council’s efforts to bring empty homes back into use. 

Priority 3: Homelessness and Support 

The third priority supports work to address all forms of homelessness from rough sleepers to 

households threatened with homelessness. The priority also outlines our work to meet the needs of 

Page 29



 

6 
 

OFFICIAL 

specific groups, including those with disabilities, elderly persons and other groups that may require 

specialist accommodation or support or adaptation to their home.  

1.3 Actions and targets 
The Delivery Plan will set out actions and associated targets which shall support the delivery of our 3 

housing priorities. The actions and targets that support our plan are set out within the respective 

chapters assigned to each priority area.   

2. Borough profile 
This chapter provides a brief overview and profile of the borough. This includes the population and 

household profile within the borough, a profile of the housing stock, an economic snapshot, and the 

cost and affordability of accommodation in the borough.   

Key characteristics: 

 Population projected to increase by 15% over the next 20 years (2021 to 2041); 

 Projected population growth for the age cohorts (75-84 and 85+) are 50% and 78% 

respectively over the next 20 years; and 

 Household growth is projected to exceed population growth at 19.6%. 

2.1 Population and households 
In 2021 Rushcliffe is home to an estimated 121,753 people. This is an increase of approximately 

10,000 persons or just over 9.5% from the Census figure in 2011.  The Borough’s population is 

estimated increase by just under 20,000 people from 2021 to 2041, which is just over 15% from 

2021.  

The projected population increases for cohorts ‘Under 16’ to ‘65- 74’ are within a range of 8% to just 

over 15% from 2021 to 2041. Figure 2.1 illustrates that the projected population growth of the ’75-

84’ and ‘Aged 85+’ cohorts far outstrip that rate of other cohorts. These cohorts are projected to 

increase respectively by 29.1% and 34.3% from 2021 to 2031, and 50.4% and 78.1% from 2021 to 

2041.     

Figure 2.1: Population growth by age cohort 

 

Source: ONS 2021 

0.0%

20.0%

40.0%

60.0%

80.0%

100.0%

2021 2031 2041

All 0-15 16-24 25-44

45-64 65-74 75-84 85+

Page 30



 

7 
 

OFFICIAL 

Populations form households, some of which may be single person households and some of which 

may be multi-generational households. The population occupies housing as households and so the 

size and characteristics of households are equally important. A key driver of all strategic planning 

and housing policy is to ensure that current and future housing meets the needs of current and 

future households. Projected household growth is a key component of the Standard Method to 

calculate the overall housing requirement for each local authority area.  

The household projections below (Figure 2.2) are derived from the 2018 based household 

projections. It can be seen that the number of households in the borough has increased by 6,646 

households (15.3%) from 2001 to 2021. Households are projected to increase by 9,794 households 

(19.6%) from 2021 to 2041. The population increase for the same period (2021 to 2041) is estimated 

as just over 15%. Hence it is projected that growth of households will exceed the growth in 

population over the 20-year period, which could indicate an accelerated growth in single person 

households.  

Figure 2.2: Household growth 2001 to 2041 

 

Source: ONS 2021 

2.2 Housing stock 
At the time of the last Census (2011) there were 47,349 household spaces which for the purposes of 

this Plan we can determine as dwellings. Of the total dwellings, 45,835 were usually occupied.  

Table 2.3 indicates that at the time of the 2011 Census, 76.4% of the Borough’s housing stock was 

owner occupied. Only 8.4% of the stock was ‘affordable’ rented, being either social rent or 

affordable rent. The vast majority of the affordable housing stock in the Borough is owned by 

Registered Providers, also known as Housing Associations. There were 333 shared ownership units at 

the time of the Census. Since 2011 to March 2021 there have been 861 affordable completions, of 

which 509 are for rent and 352 are of ‘intermediate’ tenure, the majority of which are shared 

ownership.   

Page 31



 

8 
 

OFFICIAL 

In 2011 13.3% of the housing stock was privately rented. Nationally since 2011 there has been a 

growth in the private rented sector at the expense of the owner-occupied sector. There is no reason 

to assume that Rushcliffe has not followed this trend. 

Figure 2.3: Housing tenure 

 

Source: Census 2011 

Figure 2.4 below sets out the type of housing in the borough at the time of the Census. The majority 

of the borough’s housing stock is either detached (46.2%) or semi-detached (31.0%). Smaller 

proportions of the stock are terraced (11.4%) or flats (10.7%). Terraced housing and flats will tend 

toward more affordable entry level housing and smaller proportion of such will reduce the supply of 

entry level housing for new forming households. We will consider house prices in greater detail at 

Chapter 3. 

Figure 2.4: House type 

 

Source: Census 2011 

Page 32



 

9 
 

OFFICIAL 

Figure 2.5 below illustrates the size of housing by ‘number of bedrooms’ across the Borough’s 

housing stock. 39.9% of the stock is 3 bedroomed with 24.6% being 4 bedroomed and 21.7% being 2 

bedroomed. As with type of housing, entry level housing for new forming households will tend to be 

provided by the smaller sized properties.  

Figure 2.5: Number of bedrooms 

 
 
Source: Census 2011 

  

Page 33



 

10 
 

OFFICIAL 

2.3 Economic activity and earnings 
The latest Annual Population Survey figures from January to December 2020 indicate that 79.3% of 

Rushcliffe’s population between 16-64, commonly referred to as the working age population, is 

economically active which is slightly higher than the county as a whole and in line with the national 

rate. 

The self-employment rate and unemployment rate within the Borough exceeds the rate of both the 

county as a whole and nationally.  

Table 2.1: Annual Population Survey Jan 2020 to Dec 2020  

 Rushcliffe 
no. 

Rushcliffe % Nottinghams
hire % 

England % 

Economic activity rate - aged 16-64 57,400 79.3 78.6 79.5 

Employment rate - aged 16-64 
 

54,100 74.7 74.9 75.7 

% aged 16-64 who are employees 
 

45,300 62.5 64.6 65.4 

% aged 16-64 who are self 
employed 
 

8,900 12.2 10.2 10.1 

Unemployment rate - aged 16-64  
 

3,300 5.8 4.7 4.8 

% who are economically inactive - 
aged 16-64 

15,000 20.7 21.4 20.5 

Source: Annual Population Survey 2021 

The graph overleaf (Figure 2.6) compares the proportion of working population within the various 

occupational groups in Rushcliffe compared to the county as a whole and the national picture. The 

data is derived from the Annual Population Survey. The occupational groups numbered in Figure 2.6 

below are as follows: 

Table 2.2: Occupational groups  

1. Managers, directors and senior officials 

2. Professional occupations 

3. Associate professional and technical occupations 

4. Administrative and secretarial occupations 

5. Skilled trades occupations 

6. Caring, leisure and other service occupations 

7. Sales and customer service occupations 

8. Process plant and machine operatives 

9. Elementary occupations 

 

Figure 2.6 indicates that Rushcliffe has a higher proportion of economically active residents in 

occupational groups 1 and 2 than comparative geographies. This is particularly pronounced in 

occupational group 2 which comprises 26.4% of Rushcliffe economically active residents in 

comparison to 16.2% across the county as a whole and 17.5% nationally.  

Page 34



 

11 
 

OFFICIAL 

Conversely the proportion of economically active Rushcliffe residents in occupational groups 5 to 9 is 

far lower than the comparative geographies.      

Figure 2.6: Occupational group: economically active residents 

 

Source: Annual Population Survey (June 2020 to June 2021) 

The following data on incomes is derived from CACI Paycheck data for 2019. This data estimates 

gross household income in the Borough and Great Britain (GB) as the comparator. The table below 

sets out the average and quartile salaries for Rushcliffe in comparison to GB. Rushcliffe shows a 

higher salary levels across all ranges. The graph overleaf sets out the salary distribution by income 

cohort in Rushcliffe and Great Britain. It can be seen that Rushcliffe has a lower representation in the 

lower salary bands than GB as a whole and a higher representation in the higher salary bands. This is 

to be expected given the disparity between average and quartile figures. This also chimes with the 

proportion of Rushcliffe residents in the higher occupational groups.    

Table 2.3: Average and quartile salaries Rushcliffe and GB. 

 Rushcliffe Great Britain 

Mean 47,762 39,964 

Median 39,826 32,141 

Upper quartile 63,999 53,612 

Lower quartile 22,666 17,922 

Source: CACI Paycheck data 2019 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 35



 

12 
 

OFFICIAL 

Figure 2.7: Gross household income Rushcliffe (RBC) and GB. 

 
Source: CACI Paycheck data 2019 

  

Page 36



 

13 
 

OFFICIAL 

3. Priority One: Affordability and Sustainable Housing 

3.1  Housing growth 
An acceleration in the supply of housing is a key Government policy. The current Government, as did 

its predecessors, recognises that the supply of housing needs to increase at a national level in order 

to meet the demands of current and existing households. In fact the imbalance between the supply 

(or lack thereof) and demand of housing creates a major upward pressure on the value of housing. 

This was a key plank in economist Kate Barker’s Government commissioned report published in 2004 

named the Barker Review of Housing Supply.  This review has formed the ammunition to support 

successive Government’s rhetoric and policy around the need to increase housing supply to meet 

rising demands for housing.  

 

Some commentators argue that there are many factors that impact the housing market aside from 

the imbalance of supply and demand. These include the emergence and expansion of the Buy to let 

market. More recently the expansion of student and short-term letting accommodation has also 

diverted supply from the residential market. The above have all been supported by historically low 

interest rates. 

Although housing growth is unpopular with many communities, at present the Council’s housing 

need figure is determined by government derived formula. The Council’s role as the Local Planning 

Authority (LPA) is to establish the most sustainable locations to deliver the required numbers of 

housing through the local planning process. If the Council does not have an up to date Local Plan, or 

a 5 year deliverable supply of housing or has not met the Housing Delivery Test over the last 3 years, 

it means that opportunistic and unsuitable housing applications are more likely to be granted on the 

basis that the Council has not enabled a sufficient number of the sites to be developed. Hence it is 

important that the LPA meets its deadlines in terms of delivering its emerging Local Plan.    

Furthermore the vast majority of affordable housing is delivered by planning obligation on new build 

sites. The Council’s affordable housing planning policies determine the amount and type of 

affordable housing provided on newbuild sites. The Council’s affordable housing policies are set out 

in Policy 8 of the current Local Plan and in brief require all new build sites with over 10 net dwellings 

to provide a proportion of affordable housing onsite. This proportion is usually 20% or 30% of all 

dwellings and is controlled by way of a legal agreement, known as a section 106 agreement. In fact 

such sites are usually referred to as ‘section 106’ sites. In exceptional circumstances the Council will 

take a payment in lieu of onsite affordable housing to spend on affordable housing elsewhere if the 

provision of onsite affordable housing is not suitable.      

Affordable housing delivered by way of planning obligation is defined by the National Planning Policy 

Framework 2021 (Annex 2) as:   

‘Housing for sale or rent, for those whose needs are not met by the market (including housing that 

provides a subsidised route to home ownership and/or is for essential local workers); and which 

complies with one or more of the following definitions:  

 Affordable Housing for Rent (in accordance with the Government’s policy on Social Rent or 

Affordable Rent, or at least 20% below market rents); 

 Starter homes; 

Page 37



 

14 
 

OFFICIAL 

 Discounted market sales housing (sold at a minimum of 20% discount (or minimum of 30% if 

the property is a First Home)); and 

 Other affordable routes to home ownership (including shared ownership and rent to buy).’ 

3.2 House price and affordability 
Buying a home to live in has become increasingly unaffordable for many households, as the rise in 

property prices has outstripped the increase in incomes over the last 20 years. As the graphs below 

illustrate median and lower quartile house prices in the borough have increased more than incomes 

for both residents and workers. The ratio between house prices and incomes is set as an 

‘affordability ratio’ defined as the multiples of salary required to access property at the respective 

entry levels. For example, in Table 3.1 below, in September 2002 median house prices were 5.46 

times the median workplace salary and in September 2020 the affordability ratio was 9.29, so clearly 

affordability has worsened. 

The reason we consider the incomes of both residents and the workforce is that the economy of the 

borough is reliant upon its workforce, many of whom may not actually work in the borough but may 

seek to due to their employment. In fact, the workforce income data is used to calculate the 

affordability uplift within the Standard Method which determines the borough’s minimum housing 

need set out within the Local Plan.  

Tables 3.1 and 3.2 below indicate that the median affordability ratios for both residents and the 

workforce have increased. The differential between house prices and incomes is more acute for the 

workforce at a 9.29 ratio than for residents at a 7.86 ratio. 

Table 3.1 Median house prices to median workforce earnings  

 Sept 2002 Sept 2012 Sept 2018 Sept 2019 Sept 2020 

Median house 
price 

122,500 190,000 267,998 282,500 280,000 

Workplace 
annual salary  

22,437 24,639 29,997 30,619 30,153 

Affordability 
ratio 

5.46 7.71 8.93 9.23 9.29 

Source: ONS 2021 

Table 3.2 Median house prices to median resident earnings  

 Sept 2002 Sept 2012 Sept 2018 Sept 2019 Sept 2020 

Median house 
price 

122,500 190,000 267,998 282,500 280,000 

Resident 
annual salary  

25,843 32,307 34,891 35,545 35,633 

Affordability 
ratio 

4.74 5.88 7.68 7.95 7.86 

Source: ONS 2021 

Table 3.3 and 3.4 consider lower quartile affordability ratios. The lower quartile house prices are 

determined as the entry level house price in assessments of affordable housing need determined 

through strategic planning process. Clearly affordability has worsened significantly since 2002. Again, 

the affordability ratios are higher for the workforce than residents. It is noticeable that affordability 

ratios increase in 2020 due to a reduction in incomes rather than an increase in house prices, which 

Page 38



 

15 
 

OFFICIAL 

may be due to the impact of the lockdown and furlough scheme. In respect of house prices, the data 

for 2021 is not yet available for a full analysis. However it is understood that house prices have 

increased over the last year, driven in part by the stamp duty holiday, cheap mortgage finance and 

the so-called ‘rush to the provinces’ driven by the ability for people to continue to work from home 

on a semi-permanent basis.  

Table 3.3 Lower quartile house prices to lower quartile workplace earnings  

 Sept 2002 Sept 2012 Sept 2018 Sept 2019 Sept 2020 

Lower 
Quartile 
House price 

89,500 148,000 196,995 210,000 210,000 

Workplace 
annual salary  

15,078 18,451 21,365 21,347 20,909 

Affordability 
ratio 

5.94 8.67 9.22 9.84 10.04 

Source: ONS 2021 

Table 3.4 Lower quartile house prices to lower quartile resident earnings  

 Sept 2002 Sept 2012 Sept 2018 Sept 2019 Sept 2020 

Lower 
Quartile 
House price 

89,500 148,000 196,995 210,000 210,000 

Workplace 
annual salary  

19,008 20,171 24,420 25,842 23,849 

Affordability 
ratio 

4.71 7.26 8.07 8.13 8.81 

Source: ONS 2021 

3.3  Private rental prices and affordability 
The table 3.5 below considers average rent levels in Rushcliffe over the financial year 2020 to 2021. 

The median rent for Rushcliffe over last financial year was £725 pcm. The lower quartile rent which 

is viewed as the entry level rent was £625 pcm. 

Table 3.6 compares private rent levels in Rushcliffe regionally and nationally. Rent levels in Rushcliffe 

clearly exceed the regional averages, which chimes with the economic profiling set out in 2.3. 

National averages are still higher than the Rushcliffe averages, so rent levels are still not comparable 

to the south of the country which bring up the national averages.   

Table 3.5: Private rents in Rushcliffe 2020/2021 per calendar month (PCM) 

 Count Mean (£) Lower quartile 
(LQ) (£) 

Median (£) Upper Quartile 
(UQ) (£) 

Room 10 426 401 411 463 

Studio 10 408 360 400 450 

1 bed 80 541 495 548 595 

2 bed 490 684 615 675 725 

3 bed 340 861 725 800 950 

4+ bed 130 1,314 1,000 1,225 1,450 

Total 1,060 801 625 725 875 

Source: ONS 2021 

Page 39



 

16 
 

OFFICIAL 

Table 3.6: Comparative private rent 2020/2021 pcm 

 Mean (£) LQ (£) Median (£) UQ (£) 

Rushcliffe 801 625 725 875 

Nottinghamshire  653 515 600 725 

East Midlands 660 525 625 750 

England 864 565 730 995 

Source: ONS 2021 

The table below considers Local Housing Allowance (LHA) rates in comparison to lower quartile 

rental prices. The borough is covered by three Broad Rental Market Areas (BRMA). BRMAs are 

defined areas that form a rental market area. LHA rates are set at the lower of the 30th percentile of 

a list of rents within the BRMA and the previous LHA rate. The Grantham & Newark BRMA covers the 

far east of the borough and includes East Bridgford, Screveton and Flintham. The Leicester BRMA 

covers the south west of the borough and includes East Leake and Sutton Bonnington. The majority 

of the borough is covered by the Nottingham BRMA including West Bridgford, Ratcliffe on Soar, 

Ruddington, Keyworth, Cotgrave and Radcliffe on Trent. The Nottingham BRMA also covers the city 

of Nottingham and parts of Ashfield and Gedling.  

An issue with the borough being covered by three BRMAs is that LHA rates differ across the borough, 

as can be seen from the below. A further consideration is that BRMAs covering Rushcliffe include a 

far wider geography within which rents are predominantly lower. This means that the LHA 

calculation is determined by a lower base rent level (30th percentile) than in Rushcliffe itself. This is 

evidenced is the fact that lower quartile (25th percentile) rent levels in Rushcliffe are noticeably 

higher than all BRMA LHA rates covering the borough.  

This means that LHA rates in Rushcliffe will not meet the cost of lower quartile rental property in the 

borough. This makes it difficult for the Council to meet the needs of homeless households in the 

private rental sector in the borough.           

Table 3.6: Local Housing Allowance rate pcm  

Rate/ BRMA Grantham & 
Newark (£) 

Leicester (£) Nottingham (£) LQ Rushcliffe (£) 

Shared 
accommodation 

368.34 338.00 349.05 401 

One bedroom 373.97 448.76 468.69 495 

Two bedroom 483.69 563.46 548.51 615 

Three bedroom 573.43 673.14 623.30 725 

Four bedroom 792,83 892.57 797.81 1,000 

Source: Valuation Office Agency 2021 

  3.4  Achievements since the last housing plan (2016 to 2021) 
 

 Completed 8 rural exception site Housing Needs Surveys and distributed a further 3 surveys 

as part of the Rural Exception site programme. 

 Provided 639 new affordable homes chiefly through section 106 delivery. 

 Worked in partnership to progress with Metropolitan Thames Valley Housing (MTVH) 

phases 1 and 2 of the garage site in-fill scheme. This provided 23 units within phase 1 and 

will provide a further 10 units across 3 sites within phase 2. 

Page 40



 

17 
 

OFFICIAL 

 Successfully secured 42.5k Department for Levelling Up Housing and Communities (DLUHC) 

revenue funding and 302.4k capital funding for the provision of 6 permanent units of move 

on accommodation across South Nottinghamshire 

3.5 Actions and targets 
The key actions to deliver this strategic priority are set out in Table 3.7 below: 

Table 3.7: Priority 1 Actions and Targets 

Priority 1: Affordability and Sustainable Housing 

Action/Target Responsible Dept. Target date 

Publication of Greater Nottingham Strategic Plan 
(GNSP) preferred options paper 

Strategic Planning January 2022 

GNSP Submitted for Examination Strategic Planning November 2022 

GNSP adopted Strategic Planning October 2023 

Completion of MTVH garage site build 
programme phase 2 

Strategic Housing April 2024 

Commit at least 50% of the available capital 
budget to support the delivery new affordable 
housing and identify schemes for the allocation 
of the remainder of the budget 

Strategic Housing March 2027 

Deliver at least 750 new affordable housing 
dwellings over the term of the Plan. 

Strategic Housing March 2027 

Explore opportunities to deliver rural exceptions 
sites in partnership with Parish Councils with the 
aim of securing at least 2 sites over the term of 
the Plan. 

Strategic Housing March 2027 

 

  

Page 41



 

18 
 

OFFICIAL 

4. Priority 2: Housing Quality and Environmental Sustainability  

4.1  Housing quality  
The Housing Delivery Plan considers all tenures of housing where, as a local housing authority, the 

Council has powers and obligations to intervene. The perceived focus of a strategic housing service is 

on delivery of affordable housing, homelessness and meeting the needs of households in housing 

need through allocation of the affordable housing stock. Nonetheless the Council has also statutory 

and regulatory duties across the private sector housing stock.  

In comparison to neighbouring boroughs and Nottingham city, Rushcliffe has good quality private 

sector housing, both ownership and rental. Rushcliffe is an affluent borough and as such the housing 

stock is generally well maintained in good condition. However there are pockets of poor quality and 

poorly maintained housing, and the Council needs to maintain its oversight where properties fall 

below statutory standards. Where this occurs, it may indicate a householder struggling to maintain 

their property through ill-health or disability. There may also be referrals from private sector tenants 

about the condition of their property, although the vast of the private rental sector is well manged 

and does not present regulatory issues for the Council. 

The main statutory arbiter of housing standards is the Housing Health and Safety Rating System 

(HHSRS). This is a risk-based evaluation tool to help local authorities identify and protect against 

potential risks and hazards to health and safety from any deficiencies identified in dwellings. It was 

introduced under the Housing Act 2004 and applies to residential properties in England and Wales. 

Excepting 2020/21 where activity was reduced due to coronavirus, the Council can expect to 

undertake enforcement action on 20 to 30 category 1 hazards per year. This is illustrated in table 4.1 

below. 

Another area of responsibility for the Council is in respect of licensing of Houses in Multiple 

Occupation (HMO), which require mandatory licensing under the prevailing HMO regulations. A 

licensable HMO is defined as a dwelling: 

 that is rented to 5 or more people who form more than 1 household; 

 where some or all tenants share toilet, bathroom or kitchen facilities; and 

 where at least 1 tenant pays rent (or their employer pays it for them). 
 
Table 4.2 illustrates the number of mandatory licenced HMOs and the number of HMO that require 

a mandatory licence.  It is the responsibility of the Council to ensure that all mandatory HMOs have a 

valid licence and take appropriate enforcement action where this is not the case.      

Table 4.1:  Identified category 1 hazards  

 2020/21 2019/20 2018/19 2017/18 2016/17 

HHSRS Cat 1 18 26 22 32 22 

Action to 
resolve 

14 21 22 27 22 

Source: RBC performance statistics 2021 

 

 

Page 42



 

19 
 

OFFICIAL 

Table 4.2: Licensable and licensed HMOs 

 2020/21 2019/20 2018/19 2017/18 2016/17 

Licensable  
HMOs 

200 200 220 177 240 

licensed 196 195 208 177 196 

Source: DLUHC (LAHS returns 2016/17 to 2020/21) 2021 

4.2  Health and Housing  
There are clear linkages between health and housing. Poor quality housing both in terms of its 

environmental efficiency and its poor condition, including hazards in the home, such as trip hazards 

leads to increased demand for acute NHS and other services.  

Over the past decade, the infrastructure has been put in place to ensure more co-ordinated working 

relationships between health, social services and housing.          

Health and Wellbeing boards were established under the Health and Social Care Act 2012 to act as a 

forum in which key leaders from the local health and care system could work together to improve 

the health and wellbeing of their local population. They became fully operational on 1 April 2013 in 

all 152 local authorities with adult social care and public heath responsibilities.   

Sustainability and transformation plans (now partnerships) (STPs) were announced in NHS planning 

guidance (NHS England 2015). They are intended to cover three main areas: developing new models 

of care and improving quality; improving health and wellbeing of their population; and improving 

efficiency of their services.  

STPs are now set to be replaced by a new integrated care structure featuring an interlinked 

Integrated Care Board (ICB) and Integrated Care Partnerships (ICP), the latter being place based 

partnerships focussed upon delivery. Rushcliffe falls under the South Notts ICP.   

Irrespective of the changing strategic infrastructure, partnerships have focussed upon improving 

health outputs through interventions in housing.  The King’s Fund report on Housing and Health 

(2018) excerpts the following statement from the Nottingham and Nottinghamshire STP to 

demonstrate the recognition of the important link between the quality of housing and health. 

“Nottingham and Nottinghamshire sustainability and transformation plan – proposals relating to 

housing and the home  

 The plan recognises that people are living longer and that many, especially those living with 

multiple conditions, may be vulnerable due to their housing.  

 Where possible services that do not need to be delivered in a hospital setting will be 

delivered in different ways, for example, through the use of assistive technology to deliver 

care in the community and in people’s homes.  

 An STP advisory group allows the voluntary and community sector, including home care 

providers and care homes, to contribute to the plan.  

 More people will be offered the ‘warm homes on prescription’ scheme so that they can 

more easily afford to heat their home.  

 The plan aspires to better support from housing providers to ensure that accommodation 

for people being discharged from hospital is safe to return to.” 

Page 43



 

20 
 

OFFICIAL 

4.3  Environmental sustainability 
Emissions from residential housing constitute about 15% of all UK greenhouse gases. According to a 

recent report from the National Housing Federation (NHF), England’s 25 million homes produce 58.5 

million tonnes of CO2 every year. This is slightly higher than that emitted from car use annually in 

England. The NHF in tune with many other commentators cite the main reason for the high level of 

emissions as the overall poor quality of the existing stock. The UK’s housing stock as a whole is far 

older than the contemporary developed countries and much of it is poorly insulated.   

In March 2020, Rushcliffe Borough Council made a commitment to work towards becoming carbon 

neutral by 2030 for its own operations. The Council is also committed to supporting local residents 

and businesses reduce their own carbon footprint. 

The Energy Savings Trust publishes Electrical Performance Certificate (EPC) data from sales and 

lettings within the borough. The EPC provides a Standard Assessment Procedure (SAP) rating from A 

to G, with A being the most energy efficient and G the least. The graph below illustrates the SAP 

ratings by tenure in the borough. 

By 2025 all new lettings, social and private, the property will need to meet SAP rating C and this 

standard will be applied to all existing lettings by 2028. It is noticeable that a higher proportion of 

both social and private lettings meet rating C than owner occupied dwelling. Properties with a F or G 

SAP rating should not be let. A higher proportion of owner-occupied dwellings are category A&B, 

which will predominantly relate to very recently built dwellings. 

Figure 4.1: EPC SAP rating by tenure 

 

Source: Energy Savings Trust 2021  

4.4  Empty Homes 
Another key area of activity for the Council in the last few years has been bringing empty homes 

back into use. The focus of this action is upon properties that have been empty for a considerable 

period of time and having a negative impact on the locality. 

Page 44



 

21 
 

OFFICIAL 

Vacant properties are a normal part of a functioning housing market. Properties may be empty 

awaiting sale or being refurbished or may be a probate situation. However, if a property is left empty 

for a considerable period of time, it is often neglected and starts to become a risk to neighbouring 

properties and a blight on the local area. Aside from the fact the Council is duty bound to bring long 

term empty properties back into use to contribute towards the housing needs of the borough.    

A long-term property is defined as one that has been empty for more than 6 months. Data produced 

by Action on Empty Homes sets out the number of long-term empty properties within Rushcliffe and 

neighbouring boroughs as comparators over the last two years.  

Table 4.3: Long term empty properties 

 2021 2020 

Rushcliffe 400 462 

Broxtowe 352 552 

Gedling 500 598 

Source: Action on Empty Homes 2021 

The Council’s first Empty Homes Strategy was published in 2019 and covers the period until 2024. 

The Strategy identified 900 empty homes in the borough at the time of writing, of which 425 had 

been empty for more than 6 months and of which 100 had been empty for over 2 years.  

As stated within the document the benefits of a strategy to deal with empty homes can be identified 

as social, regenerative, financial and strategic. A strategy can:  

 assist in meeting housing need;  

 improve housing conditions;  

 assist with a reduction in crime and the fear of crime;  

 regenerate blighted areas;  

 increase Council Tax collection rates and empty home premiums; and  

 generate additional income through the New Homes Bonus (NHB). 

Much of the Council’s work on empty properties is focussed on identifying, contacting and working 

consensually with the owner to bring the property back into. Should the Council need to take some 

form of enforcement action it has a number of tools at its disposal. However, enforcement is a time-

consuming process. The main enforcement tools are as follows:    

 Empty Dwelling Management Order (EMDO)- where the Council or a Registered Provider 

secures a management order to bring the property into use.  

 Forced Sale- where the Council has secured a charge on the property usually because the 

owner has not paid council tax or bills for works in default, the Council can seek to enforce 

to reclaim its funds and thereby releasing the property in alternative ownership.    

 Compulsory Purchase Order (CPO)- where the Council uses its compulsory purchase 

powers to acquire property thereby enforcing ownership change.  

 

4.5 Achievements since the last Plan 
 Introduced new civil penalties under the Housing and Planning Act 2016 to deal with rogue 

and criminal landlords. 

Page 45



 

22 
 

OFFICIAL 

 Developed and actioned an Empty Homes Strategy in 2019 supported by the appointment of 

a dedicated Empty Homes Officer. 

 27 empty homes brought back into use since the adoption of the Empty Homes Strategy in 

2019 through direct enforcement. 

 Action on 53 high priority long term empty properties being progresses through a 

combination of support and enforcement action 

 £692,150 secured through Local Authority Delivery grant to support energy efficiency works 

in low performance homes where the applicant has a low income. 

 106 Category 1 hazards resolved through enforcement action.      

 

4.6 Actions and targets 
Table 4.5: Priority 2 Actions and Targets 

Priority 2: Housing Quality and Environmental Sustainability  

Action/Target Responsible 
Dept. 

Target date 

Support Local Authority Delivery fund/Social 
Housing Decarbonisation bids to provide 
environmental upgrades to MTVH stock in East 
Leake. 

Strategic 
Housing 

Mar 26 

Support the Council’s estates team to explore 
alternative premises SAP (Standard Assessment 
Procedure) rated A/B to utilise as the council’s 
homeless hostel or, if that is not feasible, explore 
retrofit options for the existing premises. 

Strategic 
Housing 

Dec 24 

Work with Registered Provider partners on a sub-
regional basis to review their existing stock assets 
and support bids to improve energy efficiency. 

Community 
Development 

On-going 

Reduce the number of properties with Health and 
Safety RSS Category 1 hazards on a year on year 
basis.  

Environment 
Health 

Annual 

Reduce the number of long empty properties on a 
year on year basis 

Environment 
Health 

Annual 

  

Page 46



 

23 
 

OFFICIAL 

5. Priority 3: Homelessness and Support 

5.1 Homelessness and rough sleeping 
Housing is fundamental to the wellbeing of our residents, their families and our communities. 

Homelessness can affect anyone. Many households affected or who are threatened with a loss of 

their home will have family or social networks that are able to provide support or may be able to 

support themselves. Many households do not have support networks or the financial security to 

meet their own needs and the statutory services provided by their local council need to assist.  

The Homelessness Act 2002 places a legal requirement on local authorities to undertake a review of 

homelessness within their area, and develop and publish a strategy to prevent homelessness, based 

on the findings of the review. The Council in partnership with its neighbouring boroughs of Broxtowe 

and Gedling has recently produced for consultation its updated South Nottinghamshire 

Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy (2022-2027). 

The Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 placed additional duties in meeting the needs of homeless 

households. The drive from Government is to reduce the overall levels of homelessness with express 

focus on the reduction of rough sleeping. The Government has launched a national ’Rough Sleeping 

Strategy’ that sets out the intention to halve rough sleeping by 2022 and end it by 2027.  This 

strategy is structured around ‘3 Pillars’, which are commitments and actions surrounding: 

         Prevention – integrated working with partner agencies to identify those at risk 
of rough sleeping before crisis. 

•  Intervention – a responsive outreach service to support rough sleepers to 
move off the streets and towards recovery and to identify new rough sleepers 
as quickly as possible. 

•  Recovery – support for individuals to find and sustain stable accommodation 
and to meet wider support needs. 
 

Over the last 5 years the three boroughs, in partnership with others within Nottinghamshire County 

Council, have responded positively to the challenges and additional duties posed by the 

Homelessness Reduction Act 2017, and more recently the Domestic Abuse Act. This has been 

achieved by expanding and creating new pathways to services for the most vulnerable applicants 

through the provision of specialist support and settled accommodation for vulnerable groups. This is 

an acknowledgement of the increase in complexity of cases and the number of individuals and 

families who present with multiple or complex needs. 

The COVID-19 pandemic has had a key role in shaping the national and local context of 

homelessness bringing to the fore the needs and vulnerabilities of rough sleepers. Significant efforts 

were made during the early stages of the pandemic to ensure that all rough sleepers had access to 

accommodation. Successful bids for Government funding have enabled the three boroughs to obtain 

long-term accommodation options for rough sleepers. However, the COVID-19 legacy issues, such as 

the ‘furlough’ scheme, the potential increase in unemployment, the moratorium on evictions are 

likely to compound the existing challenges faced by individuals already in precarious housing 

situations. This is likely to result in increased demand for housing advice and support over the 

coming years. To address this, we will look to build upon the health and social care partnerships 

strengthened during the COVID-19 response to ensure that services remain accessible to all. 

Page 47



 

24 
 

OFFICIAL 

 
The table below shows the number of applicants assessed as homeless under the Homelessness 

Reduction Act 2017.  Under the legislation applicants are either owned a Prevention Duty, a Relief 

Duty, or a Main Duty. According to the South Nottinghamshire Homelessness and Rough Sleeping 

Strategy (2022-2027) review, the number of applicants assessed has been declining. In 2020/21 the 

number of assessments dipped due to the restrictions around the pandemic. Of the 167 applicants 

assessed in this period, 160 were assessed as having a duty owed under the legislation, of which 149 

had a support need. Of these the three highest categories are a ‘history of mental health problems’ 

(50 applicants); ‘physical ill health and disability’ (20 applicants) and ‘at risk/ has experienced 

domestic violence’(24).  It is noted that applicants may belong to more than one support need 

category. 

 Table 5.1: Homeless applicants assessed  

 2020/21 2019/20 2018/19 

Assessed, of which: 167 301 389 

Owed duty 160 285 324 

With support needs 149 206 218 

Prevention duty 93 235 261 

Relief duty 67 50 63 

Households owed no duty 9 16 65 

Source: South Nottinghamshire Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy (2022-2027) review 

The main reasons for homelessness, in terms of the loss of the last settled accommodation, is 

consistently family and friends are no longer able to accommodate. This is followed by a private 

rented sector tenancy coming to an end, which is prevalent in the figures for the applicants owed a 

Prevention Duty. There has been a general trend of an increase in the prevalence of domestic abuse, 

both affecting support needs and in terms of accommodation loss. The waiting list data shows that 

there are significant numbers of people across South Nottinghamshire that are seeking and waiting 

for a social housing tenancy. The number of social housing lets through the boroughs’ waiting lists is 

showing significant decline. These are lets for all reasons not just homeless applicants. Over the last 

3 years there has been a reduction of around 30%.  

5.2  Housing support 
Disabled Facilities grants (DFGs) are mandatory grants currently up to £30,000 to support disabled 

adults and children to live in their own home. Grants for disabled adults are means tested whereas 

grants are not means tested for disabled children. The mandatory grant is supported by 

discretionary top-up grants that the Council can apply in accordance with their own published policy. 

The DFG is the Council’s main capital support programme for householders. 

DFGs range from small interventions such as stairlifts and walk-in showers to full house extensions 

and through floor lifts. The Council’s grant officers and the County Council’s Occupational Therapy 

teams work directly with clients to assess the best options to meet the client’s needs within the 

available resources. 

The Occupational Therapy teams are employed by the County Council and work across the seven 

borough and district councils. Rushcliffe Borough Council in partnership with our partner districts 

and boroughs and the County Council have worked towards a consistency of DFG policy across the 

Page 48



 

25 
 

OFFICIAL 

county. This will require a revision to the Council’s current DFG policy. The advantage of policy 

consistency is that it provides a clarity for the clients across the County area. It also allows the 

authorities to better align work practices, such as the procurement of suppliers. 

Service delivery was reduced during the height of Coronavirus pandemic and consequent lockdowns. 

Over the last year this position has been recovered and it is anticipated that the Council will allocate 

its full budget and the previous underspend in 2021/22.  

It is anticipated that demand for DFGs will continue to rise. The key challenges moving forward are 

the reduced availability of contractors. This has impacted the lead in time particularly for larger scale 

projects. Further to that the rising costs of construction is leading to a higher cost per grant. 

The Council also manages a small Warm Homes on Prescription grant programme, which targets 

low-income householders in fuel poverty and intervenes by funding more efficient fuel sources or 

insulation. This is a small scale scheme but plays an important in assisting low income households in 

fuel poverty.   

The Council also operates a home alarm service which provides a first responder service for 

vulnerable and elderly households. Although this is a ‘paid for’ service, a partnership agreement with 

Public Health has facilitated this service to be provided free for an interim period to facilitate the 

discharge of patients from hospitals. Currently the Council is introducing new digital hub-based 

models to replace the previous analogue models. The digital systems will be able to link with other 

components throughout the home, for example smoke alarms, flood sensors.     

5.3  Supported housing 
The provision of supported housing is limited in the borough. Research commissioned by the 

Nottinghamshire County Council indicates a gap in supported provision for: 

 adults with a learning disability.  

 adults with an enduring mental health. 

 Care leavers. 

There has been a lot of focus on rough sleeping and homelessness during the pandemic, which is 

welcomed. This has been focussed upon addressing the immediate issues of people rough sleeping, 

sofa surfing and so on.  The Government narrative is now increasingly focussing upon longer term 

accommodation to assist in providing an enduring change in lifestyles and behaviours.  

The third area is the provision of extra care accommodation for elderly householders who need a 

degree of support or security, and possible some bought in care at a later stage. These schemes 

negate the need for residents to move into care home provision. These mirror commercial 

supported retirement schemes of which there have been a few developed in the centre of West 

Bridgford recently but are rented at an affordable rent or sold on a shared ownership basis. 

The Council is working with its Registered Provider partners and the County Council to provide 

additional supported housing as is required.     

5.4  Achievements since the last Plan 
 Successful implementation of the Homeless Reduction Act across all boroughs. 

Page 49



 

26 
 

OFFICIAL 

 Achieved 388 early interventions to prevent the threat of homelessness, 1070 successful 
homeless preventions and 153 successful homeless reliefs. 

 Partnership working with the Citizen’s Advice Bureau (CAB) to assist 3255 Rushcliffe 
residents to manage £6.8m priority and non-priority debts and achieve £85,375k in income 
gains.  

 Establishment of a South Nottinghamshire Winter Night Shelter at Elizabeth House in 19-20.  
Commitment to continuation of a winter provision during COVID-19 pandemic and further 
13 individuals assisted in 2020-21. 

 Increasing units of supported accommodation within South Nottinghamshire with the 
expansion of Elizabeth House and through successful RSAP Funding bids in partnership with 
Framework with funding from the DLUHC.  This alone will deliver 16 units of additional 
supported accommodation, targeted at rough sleepers. 

 Successful implementation of the Government’s Everyone In scheme during the COVID-19 
pandemic, leading to 55 rough sleepers being assisted off the streets in South 
Nottinghamshire. 

 Successful continued partnership working and implementation of new initiatives through the 
Rough Sleeping Initiative funding, providing access to improved pathways for clients such as 
through the Homelessness Navigators and Call Before You Serve. 

 In partnership with Framework, the provision of a comprehensive Street Outreach Service to 
assist rough sleepers off the street. 

 Provision of support and accommodation for 41 (11 families) resettled as part of the Syrian 
Vulnerable Person’s Resettlement Programme, Vulnerable Children’s Relocation Programme 
and Family Reunification. 

 Successful partnership working to utilise 64k Better Care Funding (DFG) to purchase 591 
home alarms to enhance access to customers on low incomes.  

 

5.4  Action and Targets  
Table 5.2: Priority 3: Actions and Targets 

Priority 3: Homelessness and Support 

Action/Target Responsible Dept. Target date 

Seek opportunities to provide extra care and other 
supported housing. 

Strategic Housing On-going 

Adopt system wide solutions to improve wider health, 
wellbeing and housing outcomes (Housing Sub-Group) 

Strategic Housing On-going 

Amend the Council’s DFG grants policy and practice to 
provide a consistent service across the County  

Strategic Housing Sept 22 

Approve DFG grants within 15 weeks of an application 
being made 

Strategic Housing On-going 

Work with Nottinghamshire County Council to 
implement the Domestic Abuse Act and raise 
awareness of services 

Strategic Housing Mar 23 

Review of the South Notts Homelessness and Rough 
Sleeper Action Plan 

Strategic Housing Apr 22 

Review the Allocations Policy to ensure fair access for 
all people including those with protected characteristics 

Strategic Housing Mar 24 

Allocation of at least 80% of disabled facilities grant 
capital budget per annum 

Strategic Housing Annual 

Migrate all analogue home alarm system in use to 
digital systems 

Strategic Housing Mar 27 

Page 50



 

27 
 

OFFICIAL 

Maximise funding opportunities to support solutions to 
sustain tenancies for the most vulnerable 

Strategic Housing On-going 

 

  

Page 51



 

28 
 

OFFICIAL 

 

6. Monitoring and Resources 

Monitoring 
The Housing Delivery Plan identifies the key priorities in which we will work with partners to improve 

housing and housing related support services in the Borough.  

Each priority is supported by actions and measurable targets. The Council will review progress 

against targets on an annual basis. The Plan itself will be subject to a light touch review every two 

years to ensure its priorities and actions remain relevant. 

The relevant actions and targets are set out within the chapter assigned to each priority. Combined 

actions and targets for each priority are appended to this document. 

Resources 
The Plan is supported by the following capital and revenue streams: 

Capital 

 Affordable housing capital programme (internal). 

 Homes England Affordable Homes Programme 2021-2026.  

 Better Care Fund, which funds Disabled Facilities Grants and the Warm Homes on 

Prescription scheme. 

 Next Steps Accommodation Programme and Rough Sleeper Accommodation Programme 

Fund. 

Revenue 

 Homelessness Prevention Grant 

 Domestic Abuse grant 

 DLHUC Covid related emergency grants 

 Rough Sleeping Initiatives grant 

It is projected that action plan targets will be achieved within existing secured and projected 

resources available to the Council and its partners.  

Contacts  
For more information and to discuss how we can work with you, please contact Donna Dwyer or 

James Beale on 0115 9148226  

Email: Strategichousing@rushcliffe.gov.uk  

More information is available at:  

www.rushcliffe.gov.uk 

Page 52



 

OFFICIAL 

Appendix 1 

Housing Delivery Plan- Action Plan 
Priority 1: Affordability and Sustainable Housing 

Action/Target Responsible Dept. Target date 

Publication of Greater Nottingham Strategic Plan 
(GNSP) preferred options paper 

Strategic Planning January 2022 

GNSP Submitted for Examination Strategic Planning November 2022 

GNSP adopted Strategic Planning October 2023 

Completion of MTVH garage site build programme 
phase 2b 

Strategic Housing April 2024 

Commit at least 50% of the available capital 
budget to support the delivery new affordable 
housing and identify schemes for the allocation of 
the remainder of the budget 

Strategic Housing March 2027 

Deliver at least 750 new affordable housing 
dwellings over the term of the Plan. 

Strategic Housing March 2027 

Explore opportunities to deliver rural exceptions 
sites in partnership with Parish Councils with the 
aim of securing at least 2 sites over the term of the 
Plan. 

Strategic Housing March 2027 

Priority 2: Housing Quality and Environmental Sustainability  

Support Local Authority Delivery fund/Social 
Housing Decarbonisation bids to provide 
environmental upgrades to MTVH stock in East 
Leake. 

Strategic Housing Mar 26 

Support the Council’s estates team to explore 
alternative premises SAP (Standard Assessment 
Procedure) rated A/B to utilise as the council’s 
homeless hostel or, if that is not feasible, explore 
retrofit options for the existing premises. 

Strategic Housing Dec 24 

Work with Registered Provider partners on a sub-
regional basis to review their existing stock assets 
and support bids to improve energy efficiency. 

Community 
Development 

On-going 

Reduce the number of properties with Health and 
Safety RSS Category 1 hazards on a year on year 
basis.  

Environment 
Health 

Annual 

Reduce the number of long empty properties on a 
year on year basis 

Environment 
Health 

Annual 

Priority 3: Homelessness and Support 

Seek opportunities to provide extra care and other 
supported housing. 

Strategic Housing On-going 

Adopt system wide solutions to improve wider 
health, wellbeing and housing outcomes (Housing 
Sub-Group) 

Strategic Housing On-going 

Amend the Council’s DFG grants policy and 
practice to provide a consistent service across the 
County  

Strategic Housing Sept 22 

Page 53



 

OFFICIAL 

Approve DFG grants within 15 weeks of an 
application being made 

Strategic Housing On-going 

Work with Nottinghamshire County Council to 
implement the Domestic Abuse Act and raise 
awareness of services 

Strategic Housing Mar 23 

Review of the South Notts Homelessness and 
Rough Sleeper Action Plan 

Strategic Housing Apr 22 

Review the Allocations Policy to ensure fair access 
for all people including those with protected 
characteristics 

Strategic Housing Mar 24 

Allocation of at least 80% of disabled facilities 
grant capital budget per annum 

Strategic Housing Annual 

Migrate all analogue home alarm system in use to 
digital systems 

Strategic Housing Mar 27 

Maximise funding opportunities to support 
solutions to sustain tenancies for the most 
vulnerable 

Strategic Housing On-going 

 

Page 54



 

  

 

 

 

 
 Communities Scrutiny Group 
 

   Tuesday, 27 January 2022 
 
   Work Programme 

 
Report of the Director – Finance and Corporate Services  
 
1. Summary 

 
1.1. The work programmes for all Scrutiny Groups are created and managed by the 

Corporate Overview Group. This Group accepts and considers Scrutiny 
Matrices from both officers and councillors which propose items for scrutiny. If 
those items are accepted following discussion at Corporate Overview Group, 
they are placed on the work programme for one of the Council’s Scrutiny 
Groups. In creating the work programme for the Governance Scrutiny Group 
due regard has been given to matters usually reported to the Group, the 
resources available for scrutiny, and the timing of issues to ensure best fit within 
the Council’s decision-making process. 
 

1.2. The work programme is provided in this report for information only so that the 
Group is aware of the proposed agenda for the next meeting. The work 
programme does not take into account any items that need to be considered by 
the Group as special items. These may occur, for example, through changes 
required to the Constitution or financial regulations, which have an impact on 
the internal controls of the Council. 

 
28 April 2022  
 

 Waste Strategy  

 Carbon Management Plan 

 Work Programme  

For more information contact: 
 

Peter Linfield  
Director  – Finance and Corporate Services 
0115 914 8349 
plinfield@rushcliffe.gov.uk 
 

Background papers Available for 
Inspection: 

None.  

List of appendices (if any): None.  
 

Page 55

Agenda Item 6

mailto:plinfield@rushcliffe.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Meeting 7 October 2021
	Actions and Responses

	4 Feedback on Residents Survey 2021
	Appendix 1

	5 Housing Delivery Plan
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2

	6 Work Programme

